



***BYLAWS OF THE MOBILE SECTION OF THE AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY**

ARTICLE I—NAME

The name of this organization shall be the Mobile Section, hereinafter referred to as “the Section,” of the AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY, hereinafter referred to as “the SOCIETY.”

ARTICLE II—OBJECTS

The objects of the Section are the encouragement and advancement of chemistry in all its branches, the increase and diffusion of chemical knowledge, the promotion of scientific interest and inquiry, the development of social relations among those interested in the science, and the stimulation of the professional interest of its members.

ARTICLE III—TERRITORY AND HEADQUARTERS

Section 1. The territory of the Section shall be that assigned to it by the SOCIETY.

Section 2. The headquarters of the Section shall be at Mobile, Alabama.

ARTICLE IV—MEMBERS AND AFFILIATES

Section 1. The rolls of the Section shall include those MEMBERS, ASSOCIATE MEMBERS, and National Affiliates of the SOCIETY residing within the territory of the Section, provided that exceptions to this rule may be made in conformity with the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY.

Section 2. (a) The Section may have Local Section Affiliates as authorized in the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY.

***Effective July 5, 1978.** Approved, as amended, by the Committee on Constitution and Bylaws, acting for the Council of the AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY.

(b) A Local Section Affiliate shall retain his status only as long as payment is made of Local Section dues.

Section 3. MEMBERS, ASSOCIATE MEMBERS, National Affiliates, and Local Section Affiliates shall have such rights and privileges as are accorded them by the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY. National Affiliates and Local Section affiliates may not vote for or hold an elective position of the Section, vote on articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Section, or serve as voting members of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE V—ORGANIZATION

Section 1. The officers of the Section shall be a Chair, Chair-Elect, Secretary, and Treasurer.

Section 2. The Section shall have Councilors and Alternate Councilors as provided in the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY.

Section 3. The Executive Committee shall consist of the officers of the Section, Councilor(s), Alternate Councilor(s), Immediate Past Chair, and the chairs of the standing Committees. A quorum of the Executive Committee shall be five members, of which one must be an officer.

Section 4. The Chair, Chair-Elect, Councilors, and Alternate Councilors shall be chosen from MEMBERS. The Secretary and Treasurer shall be chosen from MEMBERS or, in exceptional instances and with the approval of the Executive Committee, from ASSOCIATE MEMBERS.

ARTICLE VI—TERMS OF OFFICE AND MANNER OF ELECTION

Section 1. Elected officers of the Section shall serve beginning January 1, for a term of one year or until their successors are elected. The Chair-Elect shall succeed to the office of Chair upon completion of his term of office.

Section 2. Councilors and Alternate Councilors shall take office on the first day of January following election and shall hold office for three years. In the event that this Section's representation on the Council is reduced as a result of official determination of representation as provided in the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY, the Councilors and Alternate Councilors having the longest unexpired terms shall be disqualified.

Section 3. In the event of a vacancy in the office of Chair, the Chair-Elect shall assume the added duties of the Chair for the unexpired term. All other vacancies shall be filled by the Executive Committee by interim appointment for the period up to the next annual election, at which time the Section shall choose a member to fill out the unexpired term. In the event the

office of Chair-Elect is filled by such interim appointment, the Section shall elect both a Chair and a Chair-Elect at its annual election.

Section 4. Prior to September 1 of each year, the Chair shall appoint a Nominating Committee of three members to provide nominees for the elected officers, Councilors, Alternate Councilors, and other elected persons.

Section 5. (a) The Nominating Committee shall report at the October meeting and nominate one candidate for each elective office. Additional nominations from the floor will be in order after the Nominating Committee reports.

(b) At the October meeting, the Chair shall appoint a committee of not less than three Tellers, whose duty shall be to take charge of the election.

Section 6. The Secretary shall cause the ballot as received from the Nominating Committee and any nominations from the floor to be printed or mimeographed and shall send a copy and a plain envelope marked "Ballot" to each member of the Section at least fourteen days prior to the November meeting. Ballots so printed or mimeographed shall be the only ballots which shall be counted.

To vote, a member shall indicate on the election ballot his choice(s) for no more than the number to be elected for the various offices. The member shall seal his ballot in a plain envelope marked "Ballot" and shall mail this envelope in a sealed envelope bearing his handwritten signature to the Chair of the Tellers. The ballots thus enclosed must be received not later than 8:00 p.m. of the day of the November meeting. A member may deliver his ballot in person to the Tellers provided he does so before the counting of the ballots begins.

At an announced meeting place the Tellers shall check the signatures of members against the master list of members provided by the Secretary. The validated outer envelopes shall be opened and the inner envelopes segregated. Then the Tellers shall open the ballot envelopes and count the votes. These proceedings may be observed by an interested member of the Section provided the member does not interfere with the business of the Tellers.

After the count, the Tellers shall deliver to the Secretary all ballots in a sealed package and shall certify to the Secretary the number of votes cast for each name on the ballot. The Secretary shall declare elected the candidate receiving the highest vote for each office. In case of a tie vote, or if no candidate receives a majority of the votes cast, the election shall be decided from the two highest candidates by a majority vote of those members present and voting at the November meeting. The Tellers shall certify the results to the Secretary who shall then declare the results of the election.

If for any reason it shall be impossible to execute the provisions of these bylaws regarding the time and date of nominations and elections, the Executive Committee shall arrange for nominations and elections in accordance with the spirit of these bylaws so far as possible.

Section 7. No member shall be eligible to hold more than one elective position at one time.

Power to appoint, re-elect, or elect implies power to remove or replace.

ARTICLE VII—FINANCE

Section 1. (a) All moneys and other valuables and property accruing to the Section shall be deposited with the Treasurer of the Section except as may otherwise be provided for in these bylaws.

(b) Only the Executive Committee, or the members of the Section by a vote of the majority of those present and voting at a regular business meeting, shall have power to authorize the expenditure of the Section's funds.

(c) Not later than February 15 of each year, the Executive Committee shall meet to receive estimated budgets from the Finance Committee for operating expenses of the Section for the year. After careful consideration, the Executive Committee shall approve the budgets either in their original or modified forms and shall appropriate sufficient funds to cover the budgets as approved. If at any time the funds appropriated are found to be insufficient, a request for additional appropriations may be presented to the Executive Committee for consideration and approval. Any unexpended funds appropriated to the officers and committees shall revert to the general fund at the end of the fiscal year.

(d) Either the Executive Committee, or the members of the Section by a majority vote of those present and voting at a regular business meeting, may authorize the expenditure of funds for other purposes as the occasion may arise.

(e) The Treasurer shall include in his report to the Section each month the expenditures and balance in each of the budgets for officers and committees.

BYLAW VIII—DUTIES OF OFFICERS AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1. The duties of the officers shall be those customarily performed by such officers, together with those responsibilities prescribed by the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY and by these bylaws, and such other duties as may be assigned from time to time by the Executive Committee.

Section 2. The Chair, or in his absence, the Chair-Elect, shall preside at all meetings of the Section and all meetings of the Executive Committee; in the event that neither can serve, the Secretary of the Section shall call the meeting to order and immediately proceed with the election of a Chair pro tem. The Chair shall appoint all committees, authorized by the Section or the Executive Committee, which are not otherwise provided for in these bylaws. All vacancies on committees shall be filled by the Chair of the Section.

Section 3. (a) The Executive Committee shall normally be the governing body of the Section and shall have power to conduct, manage, and direct the business and affairs of the Section in accordance with the SOCIETY and these bylaws. It shall report through the Secretary all its proceedings of all meetings to the membership at the next regular or special meeting following. Any member shall have an opportunity to speak for or against the action of the Executive Committee. It shall receive monthly oral reports and written annual reports at the last meeting of the year from all standing committees and make periodic reports to the Section. Any action taken by this Committee can be annulled only by a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting at any meeting.

(b) The Executive Committee with the cooperation of the Program Committee shall fix the time and place of each meeting of the Section.

Section 4. The Chair-Elect shall be Chair of the Program Committee.

Section 5. The Secretary shall keep a record of the proceedings of the Section and of the Executive Committee; shall in cooperation with the Chair or the Executive Committee make the regularly required reports to the Executive Director of the SOCIETY; shall under the direction of the Chair issue notices to the members and affiliates of the Section and to the members of the Executive Committee at least ten days prior to the meetings; and he shall perform all other duties usual to his office as prescribed in the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY and in these bylaws. He may be allowed such sums for clerical assistance, and for stationary and postage, as may be recommended by the Finance Committee and approved by the Executive Committee. The Secretary may require the Treasurer to deposit with him for safe keeping an indemnity bond, payable to the Mobile Section of the AMERICAN CHEMICAL SOCIETY, if and when the Executive Committee authorizes the Treasurer to be bonded. The Executive Committee upon recommendation of the Finance Committee shall determine the amount of such bond and authorize the Treasurer to pay the cost of such bond. The Section may authorize a seal which shall be in the custody of the Secretary.

Section 6. The Treasurer shall have charge of all funds belonging to the Section except as may otherwise be provided for in these bylaws; shall deposit all funds in such banks as are designated by the Executive Committee; shall make all disbursements, provided, however, that all bills shall be approved in writing by the Chair of the Finance Committee before payment. He shall make the regular required reports to the Secretary of the SOCIETY in accordance with the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY and shall file a financial statement on the appropriate income tax return blank with the Collector of Internal Revenue in accordance with Section 117 of the Revenue Act of 1943. At the first regular meeting of the Section of each new fiscal year he shall report in writing to the Section the financial condition of the Section at the close of the previous fiscal year (January 1 to December 31), and all financial transactions of the Section for that year.

Section 7. No salary shall be paid to any officers of the Section, but expenses incurred by officers and committees in performance of their duties shall be paid by the Section subject to the recommendation of the Finance Committee and approval of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE IX—STANDING COMMITTEES AND THEIR DUTIES

Section 1. The standing committees of the Section shall be Program, Membership, Hospitality, Finance, Professional Relations and Status, and Public Representation which may have the following sub-committees, each with a Vice-Chair who may attend Executive Committee meetings but shall have no vote: (1) Radio and Television, (2) Speakers' Bureau, (3) Special Activities, and (4) Writers, and such others as may be established by vote of the Section. Each committee shall consist of not less than three members. The Chair of each of these committees shall be appointed and announced by the Chair-Elect before or at the last regular meeting preceding January 1, the date on which the new fiscal year begins and on which the Chair-Elect becomes Chair. The personnel of each committee shall preferably be appointed and announced at the same time but in case this is found to be impossible, appointments should be completed by February 1. The work of each of these standing committees shall be under the direction of the Chair except as otherwise provided in these bylaws. Each committee shall upon request report to the Executive Committee.

Section 2. The duties of the standing committees shall be those customarily performed by such committees, together with the duties assigned by the Chair of the Section or by the Executive Committee.

Section 3. The Program Committee shall arrange programs and secure speakers for the meetings of the Section and shall notify the Secretary and the Chair of the Public Representation Committee of all such meetings as far in advance as possible.

Section 4. The Membership Committee shall endeavor to maintain and increase the membership of the Section and pass upon the eligibility of Local Section Affiliates.

Section 5. The Public Representation Committee shall spread information with reference to the activities of the Section to all organizations and forces; business, civic, social, etc., within the Section's territory, and shall endeavor to maintain satisfactory relationships with the local press in order to obtain the maximum desirable publicity of the activities of the Section, and make reports of the meetings to the editors of *Chemical and Engineering News* and to the *Southern Chemist*. This Committee shall also take such steps as it deems desirable to protect or enhance at all times the standing of the chemical profession in the community.

Section 6. The Hospitality Committee shall promote fellowship among the members and shall introduce new members and visitors.

Section 7. The Finance Committee shall have charge, subject to the control of the Executive Committee, of all matters relating to investments and all means of obtaining additional revenue except as may otherwise be provided for in these bylaws. Within thirty days after the beginning of a new fiscal year, with the cooperation of the Treasurer, Secretary, Chair of the Program Committee, and such other officers and committees as may expect to require funds to cover the operating expenses for the year, it shall prepare budgets to cover the operation of the

Section. The Committee shall submit the proposed budgets to the Executive Committee not later than February 1 for approval either in their original or modified forms and it shall have general supervision over carrying out the provisions of the same after they have been duly approved. It shall be the duty of this Committee to examine and audit the account books, vouchers, bank statements, and reports of the Treasurer, as of December 31, of each year, and to report its findings to the Executive Committee at its first meeting of the new fiscal year and, if approved, to the first regular meeting of the Section following this date.

Section 8. The Committee on Professional Relations and Status shall conduct continuous investigation of matters bearing on the professional relations and status of the membership and shall establish procedures by which the needs, wishes, and attitudes of the members in the field of professional relations would be channeled through the local committee to the National Committee for appropriate consideration and such action as is possible.

ARTICLE X—MEETINGS

Section 1. There shall be at least five regular meetings of the Section per annum, preferably during the months September to June inclusive. Only one regular meeting shall be scheduled in any one month except under special circumstances when the Executive Committee may approve one additional regular meeting. Special meetings shall not be substituted for regular meetings unless they are of a high technical caliber and then only by approval of the Executive Committee. The date and time of each regular meeting shall be sufficiently flexible to allow the Program Committee to obtain qualified speakers. The Executive Committee shall designate the place of each meeting and it may alter the place and time of any regular meeting.

Section 2. The Section shall hold special meetings at the call of the Executive Committee or at the written request of 20 percent of the members of the Section. The notices of special meetings shall state the exact nature of the business to be transacted and no other business shall be transacted at these meetings.

Section 3. Due notice of all meetings shall be sent to each member and affiliate of the Section. A quorum for all meetings of the Section shall consist of 20 percent of the members of the Section. In the absence of a quorum no business shall be transacted.

Section 4. At the regular meetings of the Section the order of business shall be as follows:

1. Reading of minutes of previous meeting.
2. Reports of officers.
3. Reports of committees.
4. Miscellaneous business.
5. Program.
6. Adjournment.

The regular order of business for any one meeting may be altered by the Chair with the consent of a majority of the members present.

Section 5. The Executive Committee shall meet, upon due notice to its members, at the call of the Chair or at the request of a majority of the Committee. In the absence of a quorum, called meetings shall adjourn to a date.

Section 6. At the last meeting of the fiscal year, the Chair and other officers for the ensuing year shall be installed with appropriate ceremonies.

ARTICLE XI—DUES

Section 1. All National Affiliates and members of the Section, except MEMBERS in emeritus status of the SOCIETY, may be assessed such annual Local Section dues as may be set by the Executive Committee.

Section 2. The annual dues of Local Section Affiliates shall be set by the Executive Committee in accordance with the Constitution and Bylaws of the SOCIETY. Failure to pay such dues in advance shall automatically terminate the affiliation.

ARTICLE XII—AMENDMENTS

Section 1. A proposed amendment to these Bylaws may originate either in the Executive Committee or by petition of five members in good standing who must submit it in writing to the Executive Committee. If it is approved by a majority of the Executive Committee, the Secretary shall furnish all members of the Section with copies of the proposed amendment at the time when notice of the next meeting of the Section is given.

Section 2. At the second meeting of the Section after notice of the proposed amendment is given, the amendment may be adopted by two-thirds of the votes of the members present.

Section 3. A proposed amendment which does not receive approval by the Executive Committee may be placed before a meeting upon the written request of at least ten members to the Secretary who shall, thereupon, proceed as if it were an amendment approved by the Executive Committee.

Section 4. A member may vote upon an amendment to these bylaws either in person at the meeting or by delivering a signed vote to the Secretary prior to such meeting. The vote delivered to the Secretary shall be brought to the meeting and there counted with the other votes cast in person.

Section 5. The certified copy of these bylaws shall be in the custody of the Secretary who shall forward same to the Executive Director of the SOCIETY for re-certification whenever

amended by the Section and whenever said amendments are subsequently approved by the Council of the SOCIETY.

Section 6. Amendments shall be effective upon approval by the Council of the SOCIETY unless a later date is specified.

ARTICLE XIII—DISSOLUTION OF THE SECTION

Upon dissolution of the Section and the discharge of its debts and settlement of its affairs, any funds and properties of the Section remaining thereafter shall be used for the advancement of chemistry in the area covered by the Section. In the event this procedure is not practical, or there still remain unexpended funds, such funds shall be conveyed to the SOCIETY for the general purposes of the SOCIETY.

ARTICLE XIV—RULES OF ORDER

On all questions of order not covered by these bylaws, *Robert's Rules of Order Revised* shall be considered as authoritative.